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PER CURIAM.!

Hornady Transportation, LLC ("Hornady"), appeals from a

Judgment of the Monrce Circuit Court awarding workers'

!This case was reassigned on September 18, 2012, to the
judge who authcred the opinion.
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compensation death benefits and the cost of funeral expenses
to Gwendolyn B. Fluellen and Matkoski Fluellen (hereinafter
referred to collectively as the "dependents"}), widow and son
of Hornady's deceased employee, Charles Fluellen ("Fluellen").

The record indicates the following. On September 28,
2009, Hornady filed a complaint for declaratory relief,
seeking a determination of 1its rights and responsibilities
under the Alabama Workers' Compensation Act, Ala. Code 1975,
% 25-5-1 et seg. ("the Act"™), following the death of Fluellen.
Gwendolyn Fluellen ("the widow") answered and counterclaimed,
seeking benefits under the Act for herself and Matkoski
Fluellen ("the son"}. Following lengthy discovery, the case
was tried on November 17, 2010. Aside from the widow's
testimony, there was no live testimony presented; the case was
submitted tc¢ the trial court upon the stipulations of the
parties, the widow's testimony, the depcsition testimony of
other witnesses, and other documentary evidence. We note,
however, that the depositions were reccrded and that compact
discs containing reccrdings of the depositicons were admitted

into evidence.
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The parties stipulated that Fluellen was driving an 18-
wheel tractor-trailer truck for Hornady when he was involved
in a single-vehicle collision in North Carolina; that the
widow and the son were Fluellen's dependents as defined in the
Act; and that, if the trial court determined that the claim
was compensable, Fluellen's dependents would be entitled to
66.667% of his average weekly wage of $722.70 so long as they
continued to be his dependents or for a period not exceeding
500 weeks, whichever period was shorter.

The evidence 1n the record tended to show the following.
The accident occurred on Sunday, May 4, 2008, at approximately
:20 a.m. It was undisputed that Fluellen had not worked for
the previous two days and that he had begun driving at 6:00
a.m. that day. The only eyewitness acccount of the crash
presented at trial was contained in the deposition testimony
of Michael Wade. On the dav in guestion, Wade was traveling
in the left northbound lane of Interstate 95, near Lumberton,
North Carolina. Wade, a staff sergeant in the United States
Army who served in the wars in both Irag and Afghanistan,
testified by deposition that "heavy winds" were blowing the

morning of Fluellen's accident. In describing the accident,
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Wade said that he was traveling 1in the passing lane of
Interstate 95 in North Carclina, that he had just passed an
automobile, and that he was preparing to pass the tractor-
trailer driven by Fluellen when Fluellen changed lanes 1in
front of him. Wade salid that he did not remember whether
Fluellen signaled for a lane change but that it appeared to
him that the change was "preplanned." Wade said that he had
space ahead of him, so he slowed slightly and changed into the
right-hand lane. Wade sald that as he passed the tractor-
traliler on the right side, he noticed that it was maintaining
the same speed. As he drew parallel with the tractor-trailer,
Wade sald, he noticed in his peripheral vision that it was
"getting further and further away from him™ and that, as he
drew even with the cab of the truck, he looked over and saw
that the "entire truck [was] off the interstats into the
grassy median and impactled] a tree." He sald that Jjust
before the impact, he turned to look at the rcad but that he
saw, felt, and heard an explosion. He said that he pulled his
vehicle off to the right side of the road and saw that the
tractor-trailer, including the c¢cab of the truck, was

"completely engulfed in flames.™
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Wade testified that he exited his wvehicle, crossed the
interstate, and then sprinted toward the tractor-trailer. As
he approached, he said, there was a second explosion. The
cab of the truck was completely split open, Wade said, and
therefore he was able to see that the sscond explosion
occurred behind the cab, on the passenger side of the truck.
He said that the second explosion "Just added to the flames
therefore it wasn't significant to him."

When Wade reached the cab, he said, Fluellen was still
strapped in his sesatbelt, but the seat, with Fluellen in it,
had been ejected from the cab and was sitting on debris just
below Wade's eye level. Wade testified that, if not for the
heat from the flamess, he c¢culd have reached Fluellen to
unbuckle him and pull him from the seat. However, Wade said,
Che heat was "unbearable" and he was not able to move any
closer to Fluellen. Nonetheless, Wade attempted to remove
debris off Fluellen. Because of the heat, Wade said, he ran
in, moved debris, and ran back cut again. Wade attempted to
reach Fluellen three times, but because o9of the flames, he

said, he "just couldn't get to him." He said that the debris
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was on fire, Fluellen's seat was on fire, and the cab was on
fire.

Wade testified that he kept making attempts to reach
Fluellen, who was completely covered in flames, because he saw
Fluellen moving and believed that he was alive. He salid that
Fluellen was making slow movements with his arms. He
described the movements, sayving: "It looked like an attempt to
free himself or to move from the area he was in. His head and
his arms were slowly moving 1n an upward moticn." He also
said that Fluellen's boedy was moving in the direction toward
where Wade was standing. Wade said that, after he attempted
to reach Fluellen the third time, he noticed that Fluellen had
stopped moving and that his body went limp. When there was noc
longer any effort on Fluellen's part, Wade said, he believed
that that was when Fluellen had died. Wade did nct make any
other attempt to approach Fluellen.

Soon thereafter, law-enforcement officers, firefighters,
and emergency medical technicians arrived on the scene. In
deposition testimeny, Lumberton police officer John Lynch
stated that he arrived at the crash site at 9:27 a.m. and

performed an investigation. He identified two witnesses, Wade
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and Jason Covey, who had previously given statements to a
state trooper, and he appended those statements to his crash
report. Covey stated: "At 9:20 a.m. on 5-4-08, I witnessed
a tractor-trailer go off the road into the median. The truck
caught fire immediately [after it hit a tree]." According to
the report, Wade told Officer Lynch:

"Wictim was traveling northbound in passing lane at

mile marker 11 north of exit 10. Victim gradually

moved towards the median at maintained speed and

struck tree and vehicle exploded on impact. Victim

was still alive slightly and some movement. Victim

was Lrapped under seat but [T] was unable Lo release

him and pull from wreckage."
Officer Lynch testified that the highway was straight and
level at the site where the tractor-trailer had left the road
and that the weather that day had been c¢lear and sunny.
Officer Lynch measured the distance that the tractcr-trailer
had traveled in the median before it struck the tree as 408
feet; he saw no skid marks on the highway, nc sign of braking
in the grassy median, and no evidence Iindicating that
Fluellen had attempted to veer the tractor-traller back cnto
the roadway.

Paramedic Wadius Williams arrived on the scene at 9:43

a.m. and was not allcwed to approach the wreckage until the
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firefighters extinguished the fire an hour later. While he
was walting for the fire to be extinguished, Williams spoke to
bystanders who had gathered and asked whether anyone had
witnessed the crash. Two unidentified bystanders (a 40- to
50-year-old man and a woman for whom Williams provided no
description) responded. The man told Williams that "'they!'
had tried to pull [Fluellen] from the burning cab but the
flames got up, forcing them back.™ The evidence in the
record indicates that a female witness at the scene, who was
never identified otherwise, told Williams that, when she saw
him, Fluellen, "looked confused, as if he had hit his head
during the impact.” The female witness alsc told Williams
that Fluellen was "moving some"™ after the accident. When
asked about the female witness's statement that Fluellen
appeared to be confused, Wade said that he could nct confirm
her statement because he had not been able to see Fluellen's
face, which had been covered by flames. However, he did say
that Fluellen had appeared to ke in shock and to be making an
effort to free himself.

Dr. Cynthia Gardner, a becard-certified forensic

pathologist, performed an autopsy on Fluellen's body. Dr.
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Gardner testified by deposition that Fluellen's body had been
charred on 100% of its surface area. Dr. Gardner concluded,
howewver, that Fluellen had not been alive when his body was
burned in the fire. She based that conclusion on several
findings. First, she noted the absence of scot in Fluellen's
trachea, esophagus, and bronchi, explaining that if a person
is kreathing during a fire, his or her airways will normally
be lined with & gray, sooty residue. Next, she said, when a
person breathes in smoke, his or her blcod cells attach to
carbon-monoxide molecules in the smoke rather than tce oxygen:
she also stated that victims of smoke inhalation have very
high levels of aortic-blood carbon-monoxide saturation.
Fluellen's saturation level, however, was less than 5%, an
amount that Dr. Gardner characterized as inconsequential.
Finally, Dr. Gardner determined that Fluellen had severe
coronary-artery atherosclercsis, or hardening of the arteries,
as well as scarring on the heart muscle that, she said, was
indicative of a previous heart attack. One coronary artery
revealed a 50% Dblcckage, and two other coronary arteries
revealed blockages of 90% and 95%. Dr. Gardner stated that

having a bklcockage of greater than 75% 1in any one artery 1s
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considered severe and 1s thought to be sufficient to cause
sudden death. Dr. Gardner also stated that Fluellen's heart,
which weighed 470 grams, was "quite enlarged,"”" indicating, she
said, that he had suffered for years from ischemic disease or
high klood pressure.

However, Dr. Gardner acknowledged that none of her
findings indicated that Fluellen had actually suffered a heart
attack while driving. On cross-examination by the dependents'
counsel, Dr. Gardner acknowledged the pcssibility that
something other than a fatal cardiac event before the fire
could have accounted for the absence of soot in Fluellen's
alrways and the low carbon-monoxide levels 1in his Dblood,
namely that Fluellen had died in a "flash fire."™ Dr. Gardner
described a "flash fire" as follows:

"A flash fire [1s] ... an explosion, a very hot fire

that happens very suddenly in a small space. And

the effect of that i1s that the perscn who 1s alive

and breathing in a flash fire inhales very, very hot

air which then damages their airway, and i1t damages

it by causing it to swell up, and Chey basically

smother, but it keeps them from getting all the

smoke and scct dewn into their alrway. So at the
time of the autopsy, vou don't see anything. You
don't see scot lining the alrways all the way down,

and they den't have a high carbon-mconoxide level

because they die very rapidly from the superheated
gases that they've inhaled."”

10



2100939

Dr. Gardner found that Fluellen had sustained only
minimal blunt-trauma injuries 1in the crash -- a fractured
upper Jjaw and a fractured ribk -- neither of which, she said,
was sufficient to cause death. That finding, as well as the
absence of any evidence Iindicating that Fluellen had been
breathing at the time of the fire, when combined with the
history Dr. Gardner had received concerning the manner in
which Fluellen's tractor-trailer had gradually drifted off the
roadway, had traveled in a straight line down the median for
more than 400 feet, and had crashed into a tree, warranted the
conclusion, according to Dr. Gardner, that the cause of
Fluellen's death was coronary-artery insufficiency due to
atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. A certificate of
death reflecting Dr. Gardner's cconclusion was issued in June
2008,

Almost a vyear later, in the spring of 2009, the widow
regquested that officials in the North Caroclina Chief Medical
Examiner's office reopen the Iinguiry into the cause of
Fluellen's death and conduct an investigation, Dbased on
evidence that, the widow maintained, had not been presented to

Dr. Gardner before the preparation of the autopsy report. Dr.

11
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Gardner had moved to Louisiana, so the widow's request was
assigned to Dr. Samuel Simmons, alsc a forensic pathologlist in
the Chief Medical Examiner's office. Dr. Simmons obtained
Wade's statement, as well as a report made by Emergency
Medical Services ("EMS") that contained the statements made by
two unidentified bystanders to Williams, the paramedic., After
reviewing those sources and conferring with his colleagues,
Dr. Simmons determined that the additional evidence suggesting
that Fluellen had been "moving and/or responsive when
[eyewitnesses] arrived on the scene"” necessitated an amendment
to the autopsy report and the death certificate. The Chief
Medical Examiner's office issued a supplemental report,
altering the cause of death to "thermal injuries due to a
motor-vehicle incident with fire," and an amended death
certificate,

In her deposition, Dr. Gardner ackncwledged that she had
not seen the eyewitness accounts of the accident at the time
she conducted the autopsy and determined the cause of death.
However, she said, those accounts, in which the witnesses said
that Fluellen appeared to be meoving after the accident, did

not establish that he was alive. She stated that the

12
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movements described were, in her opinion, of the type she
"would expect a burning body to produce normally,"” in which
the muscles contract into a "pugilistic posture.”

Dr. Gardner also conceded, however, that people may
survive a coronary event such as a heart arrhythmia, which
cannot be discovered in an autopsy. But, she said, Fluellen
would not have survived the flames. Dr. Gardner testified
that, 1f she had known of the witness reports indicating that
Fluellen was still alive when the witnesses first reached him,
she would have concluded that Fluellen died as the result of
thermal injuries.

On March 9, 2011, the trial court entered a Jjudgment
determining that Fluellen's death arose out c¢f and in the
course of his employment with Hornady and that the medical
cause of Fluellen's death was "fatal thermal injury" resulting
from the explosion and fire caused by the ccllisicn. The
court awarded death benefits to the dependents and funeral
expenses in the amount of $6,887. Hornady appealed.

Hornady argues that the trial court erred in admitting
the EMS report contalining statements o¢f the unidentified

bystanders because, it says, those statements were hearsay.

13
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The dependents contend that Hornady waived that objection by
stipulating to the admissibility of the EMS report. In the
alternative, they contend that the evidence challenged by
Hornady falls within exceptions to the hearsay rule found in
Rule 803(2) and 803(4), Ala. R. Evid.

"t"'The standard applicable to a
review of a trial court's rulings on the
admission of evidence is determined by two
fundamental principles., The first grants
trial judges wide discretion to exclude or
te admit evidence.'" Meck v, Allen, 783
So. 24 828, 835 (Ala. 2000) (quoting
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., v. Thompson, 726 So.
2d 651, 655 (Ala. 1898)). Despite the
latitude afforded the trial court in Its
evidentiary rulings, a trial court exceeds
its discretion where it admits prejudicial
evidence that has no probative value. See
Powell v, State, 796 Sc. 2d 404, 419 (Ala.
Crim. App. 198%9), aff'd, 796 So. 2d 424
(Ala, 2001).

"1"'The second principle "is that a
Judgment cannot be reversed on appeal for
an error [in the Improper admission of
evidence] unless ... it should appear that
the error complalined of has probably
injuriously affected substantial rights of
the parties."'™ Mock, 783 So. 2d at 835
(gquoting Wal-Mart Stores, 726 So. 2Z2d at
655, quoting in turn Atkins v. Lee, 603 So.
2d 937, 9241 (Ala. 19%2)). Sce also Ala.
R.App. P. 45, "The burden of establishing
that an errcneocus ruling was prejudicial 1is
on the appellant." Preferred Risk Mul.,
Ins. Co. wv. Rvan, 589 So. 2d 165, 167
(Ala,1991)."

14
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"Middleton v. TLightfoot, 885 So. 24 111, 113-14
(Ala. 2003) (emphasis omitted).™

Wood v. Haves, [Ms. 1100750, Sept. 7, 2012] So. 3d ;

~ (Ala. 2012).

Rule 803(2) provides that "[a] statement relating toc a
startling event or condition made while the declarant was
under the stress of excitement caused by the event or
condition" does not constitute inadmissible hearsay.
Likewise, Rule 803{(4) provides that "[s]tatements made for
purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing
medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or
sensations, or the inception or general character c¢f the cause
or external source thereof insofar as reascnably pertinent to
diagnosis or treatment” do not constitute inadmissikble
hearsay. The Advisory Committee's notes regarding Rule 803 (4)
state that the rule applies not only to statements made to
physicians, which had been the law before the adopticn of the
rules of evidence, but alsc to statements made to anyone whose

participation or involvement 1s necessary in the process of

diagnosis or treatment, including hospital attendants,

15
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ambulance drivers, or even members of the family. See also,
Fed. R. Evid. 803 (4}) Advisory Committee's Notes.

Regarding the admissibility of hearsay pursuant to Rule
803(4), the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals stated:

"In determining whether a statement comes within
this Thearsay exception, c¢ourts have applied a
'two-pronged test.'! The first prong 'is the
requirement that the statement must be one upon
which medical personnel reasonably rely in diagnesis
and LCreatment. The second prong consists of a
requirement that the declarant possess a mective
which 1is consistent with +©Lhe rule's underlying

purpose ... [0f] seeking diagnosis or treatment.'
McElroy's Alabama Evidence € 261.02(4) (5th ed.
19%6) ."

Biles v. State, 715 So. 2d 878, 887 (Ala. Crim. App. 1997).

An autopsy 1is "[a] medical examination of & corpse to
determine the cause of death."” Black's Law Dictionary 154
(9th ed. 2009). Thus, when performing an autopsy, medical

examiners are essentially "dlagnoesing” what caused the death
of an individual. OQur analysis as to whether statements the
witnesses made to emergency personnel, including EMS
responders, does not change because the victim died of
injuries sustained in the accident. The cilrcumstances that

brought akbout the death are Just as relevant 1in the

16
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performance of an autopsy as they are when physicians are
seeking to diagnose or treat the victim.

In McKenna v. St. Josszph Hospital, 557 A.Z2d 854 (R.I.

1889), a case cited favorably in Dean Gamble's discussion of

Rule 803(4) in McElrov's Alabama Evidence § 261.02(2) (5th ed.

19%6), the Rhode Island Supreme Court reversed a trial court's
decision to exclude statements that unidentified bystanders
had made to rescue personnel, who 1in turn conveyed those
statements to emergency-room personnel. The rescue personnel
had responded to a call that a man had jumped from an overpass
onto a highway, causing the man's death. DMcKenna, 557 A.2d at
856. The unidentified bystanders made statements regarding
the man's behavior just kefcore the incident. In reversing the
trial court's decision to exclude the statements, the Rhode
Tsland Supreme Court explained:
"[Tlhe bystanders' statements come within the
excepticon embodied in Rule 803(4). The statements
were made by an individual to emergency perscnnel
with ne motive to fabricate or lie, describing with
particularity a specific situation. Also, the
remarks were made Lo emergency perscnnel attending
a call for assistance in order to foster treatment.
Therefore, the prerequisites of Rule 803(4) have
been met, making the statement [s] admissible

hearsay.”

Td. at 858.

17
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In this case, byvstanders told Williams, the EMS provider
who responded to the accident scene for the purpose of
treating the injured, that Fluellen had been alive and
attempting to move immediately after the collision. As in
McKenna, the bystanders in this case had no reason to lie to
Williams when they described what had happened to Fluellen.
Therefore, we conclude that the EMS report containing
statements of bystanders who witnessed the accident and its
immediate aftermath met the requirements of Rule 803(4) and
was properly admitted pursuant to that rule.

We note that the trial court admitted the EMS report
pursuant to Rule 803(Z2), the excited-utterances exception to
the hearsay rule. Because we have concluded that the report
was properly admitted pursuant tce Rule 803(4), we need not
determine whether it was properly admitted pursuant to Rule
803(2).

"[An appellate court] can affirm a trial court's

Judgment for any reason, even one nobt contemplated

by the trial court. See Turner v. Westhampton

Court, L.L.C., 903 5o0. 2d 82, 88 (Ala. 2004) ('This

Court can affirm a trial court's judgment for any

reason, but only 1f the record on appesal evidences

the fact that 1s the basis for the affirmance.'’

(citing Ex parte Rvals, 773 So. 24 1011, 1013 (Ala.
2000))y)y."

18
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Carroll v. W.L. Petrey Wholesale Co., 941 So. 2d 234, 240 n.

6 {(Ala. 2006).

Moreover, we note that the witness statements to which
Hornady objects tend to indicate that Fluellen was still alive
immediately after the accident. Those statements corroborate
Wade's testimony. From the reccrd, it appears that Wade gave
the most complete and descriptive statement of the accident
and Fluellen's movements as Wade tried to rescue him. The
statements of the unidentified witnesses are cumulative of
Wade's testimony. Therefore, even if admittance of the EMS
report had constituted error, that error would probably have
not injuriously affected Hornady's substantial rights.
Accordingly, any such error would have been harmless. See

Wood v. Haves, So. 3d at and Rule 45, Ala. R. App. P.

Hornady argues that the trial court erred in admitting
Dr. Simmons's oplnion testimony, as well as the amended
autopsy report and the amended death certificate--al1l1 of
which, it says, were premised upon the allegedly inadmissible
hearsay statements. However, as discussed, the EMS report and

witness statements were properly admitted intc evidence.

19
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To the extent that Hornady arcgues that the challenged
witness statements were not factually correct because, as
Hornady contends, Fluellen was already dead when the tractor-
traller he was driving traveled off the interstate into the
median and struck a tree, such a challenge does not render Dr.
Simmons's oplinion testimony or documents memcrializing his
opinion, i1.e., the amended autopsy report and the amended
death certificate, inadmissible. However, as discussed later
in this opinion, the cause of Fluellen's death was the primary
dispute 1in this actlion, and 1t was the duty of the trial
court, as the trier of fact, to reconcile the conflicting
testimony regarding what caused Fluellen's dezath.

In the context of a workers' compensation case in which
the employer had challenged the testimony of two physicians
regarding the cause of an employee's injuries, tChis court held
that

"T[1]t is well settled that any challenge to the

facts upon which an expert bases hlis opinion goes to
the weight, rather than the admissibility, of the

evidence. Dyver v. Traesger, 357 So. 2d 328, 330
(Ala. 1878).'" Baker wv. Edgar, 472 So. 2d 968, 970
(Ala, 1985)., See also Fort James QOperating Co. v,

Kirklewski, 893 So. 24 434, 439 (Ala. Civ. App.
2004); Independent TLife & Accident Ins. Co. v,
Harrington, 658 So. 24 892, 888 (Ala. 1984); and

20
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Alabama Power Co. v. Courtney, 539 So. 24 170, 173
(Ala. 1988)."

Millry Mill Co. v. Manuel, 999 3¢. 2d 508, 518 (Ala. Civ. App.

2008) .
As to the admissibility of the amended autopsy report and
the amended death certificate,

"Tbloth Alabama and federal
caselaw have recognized that the
business records exceplLion 1s a
firmly rooted exception to the
hearsay rule. See, e.g., McNabb
v. State, 887 So. 24 92&%, 96¢
(Ala. Crim. App. 2001); Chic wv.
Roberts, 448 U.S. [56] at 66 n.
8, 100  5.CL. 2531 [(1980)].
Moreover, under Alakama law, "An
autopsy report made in the
regular course o©of business 1is
admissible under the Dbusiness
records exception.” 2 Charles W.
Gamble, McElroy's Alabama
Evidence & 254.01(18) (5th ed.
1996) (footnote omitted). Ses
also Adams v. State, 955 So. 2d
1037, 1072-73 (Ala. Crim. App.
2003); Baker v. State, 473 50. 2d
1127, 1129 (Ala. Crim. App.
198&4) . The results of Dr.
Fmbry's autopsy and Lhe
supporting materials are business
records, which bear the earmark
of relizbility or probability of
trustworthiness and further the
""integrity c¢f the fact-finding
precess, '" see Coy v, Towa, 487
u.s. 1012z, 1020, 108 s.Ct. 2798,
101 L.Ed.2d 857 (1988) (gucting

21
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Kentucky wv. Stincer, 482 1U.S.
730, 736, 107 S.Ct. 2658, 96
L.Ed.2d 631 (1%87))...."

"[Perkinsg v. State,] 897 So. 2d [457] at 463-65
[{(Ala. Crim. App. 2004)]. See Gobble v, State, [Ms.
CR-05-0225, February 5, 2010] @ So. 3d  ({Ala.
Crim., App. 2010); Sharifi v. State, 993 So. 2d 907
(Ala. Crim. App. 2008)."

Thompeson v, State, [Ms. CR-05-0073, Feb. 17, 2012] So. 2d

4, (Ala. Crim. App. 2012).

Based on the record before us, we conclude that the trial
court properly allowed Dr. Simmons's testimony regarding his
opinion as to the cause of Fluellen's death, as well as the
amended autopsy report and amended death certificate
reflecting that opinion.

Hornady argues that the trial ccurt erred by finding that
Fluellen's death was proximately caused by an accident arising
out of and in the course of his employment with Hornady. TG
contends that "the only legal evidence demonstrates that
[Fluellen's] death was caused by an idiopathic heart attack
which occurred prior to the actual collision.™

In the Act, the legislature set forth the following

standard that this ccurt must apply 1n reviewing workers'

compensation cases.

22
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"(e}) Review. From an order or Jjudgment, any
aggrieved parLy may, within 42 days tLhereafter,
appeal to the Court of Civil Appeals and review
shall be as in cases reviewed as follows:

"(1}) In reviewing the standard of
proof set forth herein and other legal
issues, review by the Court of Civil
Appeals shall be without a presumption of
correctness.

"(Z2) In reviewing pure findings of
fact, the finding of the circult court
shall not be reversed if that finding is
supported by substantial evidence."

% 25-5-81(e), Ala. Code 1975.

"Substantial evidence 1s '""evidence of such
weight and quality that falr-minded persons in the
exercise of impartial Jjudgment can reasonably infer
the existence of the fact scught to be proved."' Ex
parte Trinity Indus., Inc., 680 So. 2d 262, 268
(Ala. 1996) (gucting West v. Founders Life Assurance
Co. of Florida, 547 So. 24 870, 871 (Ala. 1989))."

White Tiger Graphics, Inc. v. Clemons, 88 So. 3d 208, 910

(Ala. Civ. App. 2012}.

The decision of the trial c¢curt must be based on a
preponderance of the evidence. § 25-5-81(c), Ala. Code 1975.
A preponderance of the evidence is defined as

"[t]he greater welight of the evidence, not

necessarily established by the greater number of

witnesses testifying to a fact but by evidence that

has the mest convincing force; superior evidentiary

welght that, thcough not sufficient to free the mind
wholly from all reasonable  doubt, is  still

23
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sufficient to incline a fair and impartial mind to
one side of the issue rather than the other.”

Black's Law Dictionary 1301 (9th ed. 2009).

Hornady's statement that the only "legal evidence™"
indicated that Fluellen died of a heart attack before the
accident is simply not supported by the record. Both Dr.
Gardner and Dr. Simmons testified that they could not say to
a reascnable degree of medical certainty that Fluellen had
died of a heart attack, or that he had even suffered a heart
attack, before the accident happened. Based on the record
before us, & determination that Fluellen died of a heart
attack would be merely speculative,

Contrary to Hornady's assertion, there is evidence in the
record tending to support the trial court's judgment. Wade
said that as he was preparing to pass Fluellen's truck,
Fluellen changed lanes. Wade testified that his impression
was CLhat the lane change was '"preplanned," which would
indicate that Fluellen was still conscious at that time.

Wade did not see but felt the first explesion, when the
Lractor-trailer cecllided with the tree. He pulled his vehicle
off to the shoulder of the interstate, and then ran back

teward the accident to assist Fluellen., The second explosion
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occurred toward the back of the truck as Wade approached. The
cab had already been split open, and Fluellen, still strapped
in his seat by his seatbelt, had been ejected from the cab by
the time the second explosion occurred. Wade said that he
made three attempts to reach Fluellen, but, he said, the heat
was "unbearable™ and he "Jjust ccouldn't get to him." Wade
testified that the reason he kept trving to reach Fluellen was
because he saw Fluellen moving and believed that he was alive.
Wade described Fluellen's movements, saying: "It locked like
an attempt to free himself or to move from the area he was in.
His head and his arms were slowly moving in an upward motion.”
He alsc said that Fluellen's body was meving in the direction
toward where Wade was standing. Wade said that after he
attempted to reach Fluellen the third time, he noticed that
Fluellen had stopped moving and that his body went limp. When
there was no longer any effort on Fluellen's part, Wade said,
he believed that that was when Fluellen had died. Wade did
not make another attempt to approach Fluellen.

Hornady's argument necessarily gives more weight to Dr.
Gardner's opinion that what Wade--and what other witnesses to

the accident--saw was not voluntary movement on the part of
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Fluellen, but a contracting of the muscles into a "pugilistic”
form. "Tt is rudimentary that if the matter at issus is not
solely within the knowledge of experts, then a lay witness's
testimony on the subject 1is competent for the Jury's

consideration.™ Ford Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 369 So. 2d £08,

809-10 {(Ala. Civ. App. 1979). It is within the province of
the trial court, as the finder of fact in this case, to weligh
Dr. Gardner's opinion testimony regarding whether Fluellen was
actually moving against the testimony of Wade, who observed
Fluellen's movements, saw his body "go l1imp," and pinpointed
that as the time he believed that Fluellen died. "Although a
trial court is certalinly free to believe the testimony of the
expert witnesses presented by the parties, it is nct bound by

that testimony. Elite Transp. Servs. v. Humphrevs, 690 So. 2d

439, 441 (Ala. Cilv. App. 1997)." Caseco, LLC v. Dingman, 65

So. 3d 909, 925 (Ala. Civ. App. 2010). It is the duty of the
trial court to reconcile cenflicting testimeny. 1d.
Additionally, the record indicates that, without having
the benefit of the witnesses' statements, Dr. Gardner
determined that Fluellen died as a result of coronary-artery

insufficiency due to athercosclercotic cardiovascular disease.
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She said that there was no way to tell if Fluellen had
experienced an arrhythmia, because it leaves no sign, but, in
her opinion, Fluellen's death was caused by a "coronary
event." When asked whether the coronary disease she

discovered in Fluellen necesgsgarily meant that he would have

had a sudden death, Dr. Gardner responded: "It just means that
he [was] at risk for sudden death."” Moreover, even 1if
Fluellen had suffered some type of "coronary event," Dr.
Gardner acknowledged that, although it would have been
possible that Fluellen may have survived such an event, she
believed that "the fire would have prevented him from being
saved." She further testified that, if she had kncwn of the
witness reports, she would have concluded that Fluellen died
as the result of thermal injuries.

As menticned, both Dr. Gardner and Dr. Simmons said a
flash fire would account for the lack of evidence o¢f soot
inhalation and that the absence of soct in Fluellen's lungs
did not mean that he necessarily died as the result of a heart
attack or that he was dead befcre the collision. In a very
hot flash fire, both doctors testified, the airways swell and

prevent smoke ¢or socot from entering the airway. Dr. Simmons
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said that, "based on discussions with the senior pathologist,
we felt like [death caused by thermal injuries] was the most
likely scenaric given the eyewitness account that this
gentleman had apparently been moving and responsive although
somewhat confused after the initial wreck occcurred but before
the truck was engulfed in flames."?

This 1is a difficult case. Based on the awvailable
evidence, we may never know what caused Fluellen te drive off
the interstate into the median. However, it is the cause of
Fluellen's death--not the cause of the accident--that is key.
Dr. Gardner and Dr. Simmons did not agree on the cause of
Fluellen's death, although in her testimony, as mentioned, Dr.
Gardner wavered on the point. It is the duty of the trial

court to weigh the evidence presented and to make factual

‘Dr. Simmons's statement that there were witnesses who saw
Fluellen after the Impact but before the flames 1s
inconsistent with the witnesses' statements that Fluellen and
the cab of the truck were Immediately engulfed in flames.
However, such a misstatement is insufficient, in light of all
the evidence, to totally disregard Dr, Simmons's opinion as Lo
the cause of Fluellen's death. In fact, because Wade's
testimony was that the cab was immediately engulfed in flames,
even before the second explosion, the evidence tends to
support the conclusion that Fluellen died ¢f thermal Injuries
resulting from a flash fire more strongly than if Dr.
Simmons's misstatement had been correct,
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findings based on that evidence. The legislature has provided
that, in workers' compensation cases, the circuit court's

factual findings shall not be reversed 1if supported by

substantial evidence. & 25-5-81l{e), Ala. Code 1875.

In this case, the evidence in the record includes Wade's
description of the accident, including the ceollisicon and the
explosions; the witnesses' statements that Fluellen apgeared
to them to be alive immediately after the collision; the
testimony of both Dr. Simmons and Dr. Gardner regarding the
type of injuries that can be suffered in a flash fire; Dr.
Simmons's ultimate conclusion that Fluellen died as a result
of thermal injuries he suffered in the collision; and the
amended death certificate reflecting thermal injuries as the
cause of Fluellen's death. From this evidence, the trial
court ccould have determined that it was more likely than not
that Fluellen died as a result c¢f the explosion and resulting
fire, and not from a "ccronary event.” Accordingly, we
conclude that the record contains substantial evidence in
support of the trial court's findings of fact.

Hornady argues that the trial ccurt erred by awarding the

dependants more than $3,000 for burial expenses. Pursuant to
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5 25-5-67, Ala. Code 1975, the maximum amount an employer 1is
regquired to pay for burial expenses in a workers' compensation
case 1s $3,000. We note that the dependents made no argument
to rebut this issue on appeal. QQur resecarch has revealed no
authority that would allow the trial court to exceed that
amount. Accordingly, we hold that the trial court erred in
awarding the dependents "funeral expenses" of $6,887.

For the reasons set forth above, we reverse that portion
of the judgment awarding the dependants burial expenses in
excess of the maximum amount allowed by statute; we remand the
cause for an award of burial expenses consistent with this
opinion. The remainder of the Jjudgment is affirmed.

AFFIRMED IN PART; REVERSED IN PART; AND REMANDED.

Thompson, P.J., and Brvan and Thcmas, JJ., concur.

Pittman, J., dissents, with writing.

Moore, J., recuses himself.
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PITTMAN, Judge, dissenting.

I respectfully dissent because I do not believe that the
dependents satisfied their Dburden of proving, by a
prepcnderance ¢of the evidence, see Ala. Code 1975, § 25-5-
81 {cz), that the cause of Charles Fluellen's death was "thermal
injuries due tc a motor-vehicle incident with fire."

Hornady Transportation, LLC, cobjected to the admission of
Dr. Samuel Simmons's cause-of-death opinion (and the two
official documents derived from that opinion) on two grounds:
that they were based on hearsay statements in the EMS report
and that they were inconsistent with the undisputed facts of
the case. The trial court overruled the objection, admitted
the challenged evidence, and ultimately determined that
Fluellen's death was an accident compensable under the
Workers' Compensation Act, & 25-5-51 et seq., Ala. Code 1975,
I believe that the trial court erred In admitting and relying
on Dr. Simmons's opinion because that cpinicn was based c¢cn a

factual premise that was unsupported by any evidence in the

case, even assuming the admissibility of the statements

contained in the EMS report.
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It is undisputed that, in deciding whether to issue an
amended autopsy report and death certificate, Dr. Simmons and
his colleagues accepted the physical findings and results of
toxicological tests upcon which Dr. Cynthia Gardner's autopsy
report had been based. That is to say, Dr. Simmons did not
perform a new autopsy. He accepted the data derived from Dr.
Gardner's autopsy but determined that a different conclusion
as to the cause of Fluellen's death should be drawn from that

data, based solelv upon witness statements that had not been

avallable to Dr. Gardner when she issued her autopsy repcert.

Because the scientific data underpinning Dr. Gardner's autopsy
report were not in dispute, any new conclusion about the cause
of Fluellen's death, to be valid, would have to be consistent
with that data. Dr. Simmons's new conclusion, however, was
not consistent with tChe data.

Three autopsy findings are pertinent to the analysis.
First, despite the fact that the cab of the truck was burning,
the debris from the wreckage was burning, the grass and shrubs
in the median were burning, and Fluellen's own body was
burning when Michael Wade and the bystanders saw him, Fluellen

did not breathe in the products of combusticn -- soot and
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carbon monoxide. Second, the Dblunt-trauma injuries that
Fluellen sustained, either in the initial impact or in being
ejected from the cab of the truck after the second explosion,
were not sufficient in themselves to cause Fluellen's death.
Third, Fluellen suffered from coronary-artery atherosclerosis;
he had blockages of 50%, 90%, and 95%, respectively, in three
coronary arteries; the latter two blockages were sufficient to
cause immediate death.

The autopsy conclusively established that Fluellen had
not breathed in the products of combustion. Both Dr. Gardner
and Dr. Simmons agreed that only two inferences consistent
with the data underlying that autopsy finding ccould be drawn,
namely: {1} that Fluellen had suffered a fatal cardiac event
before the fire or {(2) that, although Fluellen may have been
incapacitated by a cardiac event that was not immediately
fatal before the fire, he was still alive and breathing after
the impact and died wvery gquickly in a "flash fire." Dr.
Gardner's autopsy report was premised upon her having drawn
the first inference. As indicated by the following testimony,

Dr. Simmons's amended autopsy report was premised c¢n his and
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his colleagues' having drawn the second Inference. Dr.
Simmons stated:

"[Tlhere are situations that are documented in the
literature that suggest pecople can die from
conflagration or sudden fire essentially, usually
relative to scme scort of fuel scurce and suffer
severe thermal 1injuries as well as possible
inhalaticonal injuries that essentially kill them
before they're able to breathe in long encugh to
accumulate soot or carbon monoxide. And hased on
discussions with the senior pathologists, we felt
like this was the most likely scenario m

(Emphasis added.) The foregoing ftestimony, insofar as it 1is
quoted above, was consistent with the autopsy data and the
facts of the case, Notably, however, Dr. Simmons added the
fellowing after the ellipsis indicated: "glven the eyewitness
accounts that [Fluellen] had been apparently moving and

responsive although somewhat confused after the initial wreck

hut before the truck was engulfed in flames.” (Emphasis

added.) That porticn of Dr. Simmons's testimeony found after
the ellipsis was not consistent with the undisputed facts of
the case.

After Fluellen's tractor-traller struck the tree, Wade
heard and "felt" an explosion., Wade Immediately pulled over,
parked his vehicle, crossed the highway, and saw that the cab

of the truck was "completely engulfed in flames." Wade was

34



2100939

the first person to see Fluellen after the crash, and Wade

said that Fluellen was, at that time, "completely covered in

flames. ™ There was nco evidence indicating that anyone --
either Wade or an unidentified bystander -- had seen Fluellen

"after the wreck but before the truck was engulfed in flames,"
as Dr. Simmons testified.

Dr. Simmons had no basis for drawing the second inference
-—- that Fluellen was still alive and bkreathing after the
impact and died very quickly in a flash fire -- unless he alsc

believed that the flash fire occurred in the cakb of the truck

before the cab split apart and Fluellen, still strapped in his

secat, was ejected from the cab. The belief that, if a flash

fire occurred, it must have occurred in the cak of the truck
before the cab split apvart was a necessary condition for
drawing the second inference because the expert Cestimony in
this case defined a flash fire as one that occurs suddenly in
a small enclosed space. Dr. Gardner stated (and Dr. Simmons
did not disagree) that a flash fire is "an explosicn, a very
hot fire that happens very suddenly in a small space." When
Wade {and, presumably, the unidentified bystanders) first saw

Fluellen, he was "covered in flames," but that fire was not
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burning in a small enclosed space; 1t was burning in the open
air after Fluellen's secat had been ejected from the cab and
was lying on the ground among other pileces of the wreckage.
Puring questioning of Dr. Gardner by Hornady's counsel, the
following occurred:

O, T believe you described the flash fire as a
very hot, very sudden fire, Would that cause
instantanecous death?

"A. It would cause very rapid death.

"O. Okavy. Did vyou, from reading Sergeant Wade's
testimony that he ... heard an explosion, pulled his
car off to the side of the road, waited on traffic
and crossed two lanes of interstate, ran into the
median, ran down to Mr. Fluellen who was ——- the seat
was on fire, T bhelieved he testified the c¢lothes
were on fire, there [were] flames ... on the grass,
in the c¢ab, everything's on fire, vyet [Wade]
believed [Fluellen] was still alive because of the
movement . Is that a flash fire -- 1dis that
description conslistent with a flash fire to you?

"A. No, it's not. I would expect - I mean, even if

it was a flash fire, by the time all those other
events happened, [Fluellen] would already be dead,

and the movements would be those postmortem
movements that were due to the heat.”

There 1s no escaping the ccenclusion that Dr. Simmons and

his colleagues simply misunderstcod the facts of the case to

be that there were witnesses whe had secen Fluellen after the
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impact and before the fire.’ That misunderstanding was
apparently what led Dr. Simmons and his colleagues to conclude
that witnesses who reported "movement" by Fluellen had seen
the voluntary movements of a living human being, rather than
the effects of fire on a dead boedy.*

The record leaves nc doubt that it was Dr. Simmons's
mistaken view of the facts that induced him to 1issue an
amended autopsy report and an amended death certificate. Dr.
Simmons conceded that, "[w]ithout that EMS report specifically
that's documenting [Fluellen] moving and appearing confused

after the initial impact but before the flames, I would agree

‘Even the per curiam opinion acknowledges Dr. Simmons's
mistaken view of the facts. It states: "Dr. Simmons's
statement that there were witnesses who saw Fluellen after the
impact but before the flames 1s I1nconsistent with the
witnesses' statements that Fluellen and the cakb of the truck
were immediately engulfed in flames." So. 3d at n.z.

‘Dr. Gardner explained the phenomencn:

"You expect a body that's in a fire to ke moving
because of the contracture of tChe muscles. TL's a
well-recognized effect of thermal injury to a body,
alive or dead -- well, dead, that they will
contract. And the description that [Wade] gives in
his depositicn, tc me, he was describing this
thermal injury that we call the 'pugilistic
posture, "
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that [Lhe cause of death] could be attributed to
atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease."

The per curiam opinion discounts the significance of the
amended death certificate's being based upon a fundamental
misunderstanding of the facts. It implies that the trial
court could have disregarded the false factual premise upon
which Dr. Simmons's cause-of-death opinion was based and still
have determined that Fluellen died from thermal injuries. The
per curiam opinion suggests that the trial court may have
determined that Fluellen died in a flash fire that occurred in
the cab of the truck at the time of the initial impact and
first explosion.”

That the trial court may have settled upon such an
explanation for Fluellen's death 1s certainly pcssible, but if
the trial court did so, its determination was supported by
surmise rather than by evidence. The expert testimony in this

case defined a flash fire as one that occurs suddenly in a

The per curiam opinion states that, "because Wade's
testimony was that the cab was immediately engulfed in flames,
even before the second explosion, the evidence tends to
support the conclusion that Fluellen died of thermal injuries
resulting from a flash fire even more strongly than 1f Dr.
Simmons's misstatement had been correct.™ = So. 3d at
n.z.
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small enclosed space. Wade's testimony that there was an
explosion immediately after the tractor-trailer crashed into

the tree raises the possibility that the explosion may have

precipvitated a flash fire in the cak of the truck, but there
was no evidence indicating that the fire that occurred was,
indeed, a flash fire. Given that the cab was split apart by
a second explosion, it may have been impossible to determine,
aven at the scene of the wreck, whether conditions conducive
tc a flash fire had existed in the cab.?

In order to recover workers' compensation benefits for an
accldental 1njury, a c¢laimant has the burden of proving
medical causation by a preponderance of the evidence. See

Ala. Code 1975, § 25-5-81(c¢); Waters Bros. Cocntractors, Inc.

v. Wimberley, 20 So. 3d 125, 134 (Ala. Civ. App. 2002). To

succeed in proving that the medical cause ¢f Fluellen's death
was thermal injury due tc a flash fire in the truck's cab, the

dependents were requlred to show that the prokability of a

*For instance, one seeking to ascertain whether a flash
fire had occurred might need to determine whether the cab
windows had been open or closed at the time of the first
explosicn; the second explosicon that split the cab apart
probakly made such a determination impossible.
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flash fire's having occurred in the cabk of the truck kbefore it
was split apart by the second explosion was greater than the
prokability of Fluellen's having suffered a fatal cardiac
event before the explosion or the fire. This they failed to

show. See Ex parte Mobile Power & Light Co., 810 So. 2d 756,

761 (Ala. 2001) (determining that plaintiffs' thecry of
causation of home fire was speculative bkecause plaintiffs
"presented no evidence 1ndicating that the first pessibility

was any more probable than the other two"). Accord Bishop v.

Bombardier, Inc., 3%% F. Supp. 2d 1372 {M.D. Ga. 2005)

(affirming a summary Judgment 1in favor of defendant in a
product-liability action because plaintiff, who did not
establish which of two possibilities was the more likely
source of a fuel leak in his personal watercraft, failed to

prove causation). In Mcbile Power & Light, our supreme cocurt

stated:

"'"Many years ago, this Court gave an excellent
explanaticn o¢f the prcblem caused when a party
presents speculative testimony to prove causation:

"thtProof which goes no
further than to show an injury
could have occurred in an alleged
way, does not warrant the
conclusion that it did s¢ occur,
where from the same proocft the
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injury can with equal probability
be attributed to some other

cause.' [Southworth v. Shea, 1321
Ala. 41¢, 421, 30 So. 774, 775
(1801) .]

"'""But a nice discrimination must be
exercised 1In the application of this
principle. As a theory of causation, a
conjecture is simply an explanation
consistent with known facts or conditions
but not deducible from them as a reasonable
inference. There may be two or more
plausible explanations as to how an event
happrened or what produced it; vet, 1if the
evidence is without selective application
to any one ¢of them, they remain conjectures
only. On the other hand, 1f there 1is
cevidence which points to any one theorv of
causabtion, indicating a logical seguence of
cause and effect, then there ig a juridical
basis for such a determination,
notwithstanding the existence of other
plausible theories with or without support
in the evidence."'"

810 So. 2d at 760 (guoting Ex parte Diversey Ccrp., 742 So. 2d

1250, 1254 (Ala. 199%), gucting 1in turn Southern Ry. v,

Dickson, 211 Ala. 481, 486, 100 So. 665, 669 (1924})).
Because the dependents presented no evidence indicating
that conditions conducive to a flash fire existed in the cab
of the truck at the time c¢f the initial Impact and explosion,
the theory that Fluellen died in a flash fire in the cab does

not even rise to the level of & conjecture. That is so
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because there was no evidence indicating that the flash-fire
theory was "consistent with known facts or conditions™ in the
cab. 1d. A fortiori, there was no evidence indicating that,
if such a flash fire had occurred, the probability that
Fluellen died of thermal injuries 1in that fire was Jgreater
than the probability that he died of a cardiac event, In
contrast, the theory that Fluellen's death was caused by a
cardiac event was becth "consistent with known facts or
conditicons" and "deducible from [those known facts or
conditicns] as a reasonable iInference.™ 1d.

My review of this case convinces me that the dependents
did not satisfy their burden of proving medical causation by
a preponderance of the evidence. Accordingly, I believe the
trial court's judgment is due to be reversed in its entirety
and the cause remanded for the rendition and entry of a

Judgment 1in favor of Hornady.
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